F I R S T  G E N E R A T I O N





              JOHN HOAG, born 1643, died 1728 Newbury Mass, 85 yrs; married 21 April 1669 Newbury, Essex County, Mass to EBENEZER EMERY born 16 September 1648 Newbury, Mass, died 28 April 1694 Newbury, Mass, daughter of John Emery (1548-1683) & Mary Shotswell Webster (1610-1694).





   The background of John Hoag is some what of a mystery.  John Hoag was known to have been a resident of Newbury Massachusetts at least by the late 1660s.  The earliest record of John Hoag is his marriage to Ebenezer Emery in Newbury Massachusetts on April 211669.  In 1678, John Hoag (as Hoeg), age 35 years, made an oath of allegiance at Newbury.  This oath was due to the fierce contest with Indians which terminated in the King Phillips War [Currier, History of Newbury p. 181].  This information places John Hoag’s year of birth as around 1643.  Joshua Coffin (in A Sketch of History of Newbury) compiled a list of Newbury residents who settled in the area prior to 1700.  According to Coffin’s list, John Hoag was a weaver, born 1643, died 1728 and "came to Newbury".





  Family traditions relate that John Hoag came from Wales or England to New England in the mid 1600s with his father’s family.  The family returned to England but John alone remained in America.  Other Hoag families who settled America (not connected with JohnHoag of Newbury Mass) originated from either Northern Ireland, Scotland, or England.





 John Hoag may have been the son of Richard & Joan “Hogg” or “Hogge” of Boston Mass.The name in the Boston records appear mostly as “Hogge” or “Hogg” but in one entry as“Hodges” as a witness to a deed, 7 July 1645.  Richard Hogg was a tailor & lived in Boston from 1637 to about 1652.  His residence before & after this period is unknown.  He was a freeman in Boston Mass 13 May 1640.  He lived on the east side of Washington street, on the 3rd lot south of Milke street, where he had a house and garden which hes old in 1645 to John Lake.  In the Book of Possessions, compiled about 1652, Richard Hogg is the only person mentioned as owning land in Boston.  Richard & Joan Hogg/Hogge were members of the First Church in Boston, where four of their children were baptized, in each case being called the child of “our brother, Richard Hogge”.  The children of Richard & Joan Hogge were: (1) Joseph, born 10m (December) 1637, baptized 25d 6m (August) 1639, age about 1yr 8m; (2) Mary baptized 22d 5m (July) 1641, age 6 days old; (3) John born 4d 1m (March), baptized 10d 1m (March) 1643/4, age 7 days old; (4) Mary, born 3d 11m (February) 1646/7. [Hodges][Savage][Weeks].





The March 4 1644 birth date of John “Hogg” comes very close to the 1643 year of birth for John Hoag of Newbury.





Another resident of Boston at this time was John “Hogges” or “Hogg”.  Although given the title of “Mr”, which denoted high social standing, his existence is known only through the records of the Court in Boston where, from September 1637 to January 1641, he was repeatedly fined for drunkenness.  Early in 1641 he departed to England. [Hodges].





As a side note, Savage adds that five other “Hoggs” landed in Boston Mass on May 1652 by the ship “John & Sarah” from London, England.  These five “Hoggs” were to be sold having been made prisoners at Worcester (England?) fight, 3 September (1651?).  Savage adds: not one of who we ever hear after.  I doubt not, they & the great majority of their fellows died of ill treatment or broken heart.





  The surname “Hoag” appears with various spellings in the early records.  The name Hoag appears in the Newbury Massachusetts Vital Records : Hoag, Hoog and Howig. The families of Benjamin, Joseph, & Jonathan Hoag lived in the area of Amesbury Massachusetts.  The name Hoag appears in the Amesbury Massachusetts Vital Recordsas: Hoag, Hoage, Hoog, Hoeg, Hoege, and Hoige.  These variations in the name “Hoag” in the old town records could be attributed to the lack of standardization in spelling during the1600-1700s (or the inability of the town clerks to spell) and may in turn reflect a  phonetic spelling based on how the word “Hoag” was pronounced.  The name “Hogge” might have been pronounced as “Hoge” with the long “o”, and the name finally divided into twos yllables, Ho-ag.  Today, some Hoag families pronounce the name with two syllables [Ho-ag]; while other Hoag families use one syllable & name rhyming with “toad”.[Weeks]





  The family of John Hoag lived in the portion of Newbury that was initially called the west-end precinct & were probably members of the Newbury Parish Church.  However, the west-end precinct formed a separate parish (the West Parish) beginning in the 1680s.  In a petition dated February 28 1696, John Hoag’s name appears with 23 other residents of the West Parish who objected to the location of the West Parish Meeting House. [Coffin's History of Newbury, p. 163-4].  An 1729 map of the west parish of Newbury Mass indicates that Jonathan Hoag, son of John & Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag, was a resident here.[J.J. Currier's "Ould Newbury" p. 392-3].





  The West Parish of Newbury had a stormy beginning which enveloped both the political and ecclesiastical spheres.  Newbury was originally settled around 1635 and a meeting-house was built.  This was the first or old parish of Newbury.  John Emery, father-in-law of John Hoag, was among the very early settlers of Newbury.  By the 1680s the area west of Newbury had acquired a large population.  Initially this area was termed the west precinct.The inhabitants of the west precinct, being such a distance from the meeting house, began to consider forming a second parish and erecting a house of worship in a more convenient locality.  On March 10 1685 a petition was sent by the west-end precinct residents to the town of Newbury as follows:





"the humble request of some of the inhabitants of this town, doe desire and entreat, that yuou would be pleased to grant us your consent, approbation and assistance in getting some help in the ministry amonst us, by reason that we doe live soe remote from the means, great part of us, that we coannot with any comfort and convenience come to the public worship of God; neither can our families be brought up under the means of grace as christian ought to bee, and which is absolutely necessary unto salvation;therefore we will humbly crave you loving compliance with us in this our request". [note: names of the petitioners not listed]





  This petition commenced a contest between the west end population and the Newbury town leaders which lasted for several years.  The battle was compounded with the dispute within the west end residents as to the site of the meeting house.  One group favored a location in the southern part of the area, called "the Plains", while another group favored a location close to the river near the Pipe Stave Hill.  These battles were fought with "an obstinacy and bitterness to which the annals of Newbury furnish no parallel ... which shows that the men of 'ye good old time' were subject to like passions and prejudices as those of more modern days" [History of Newbury p. 163-4].





A chronology of these disputes are presented: (from Coffin's History)


-1689-- 16 persons erected a meeting house at “the plains”.


-February 1690-- The town (Newbury) appointed a committee of 8 persons to confer with Mr Richardson (Newbury minister) respecting the propriety of the west-end people calling a minister. Mr Richardson declined to give advise, anxious not to offend anyone.  The committee put off the a decision “for present”.


-March 1690-- At the Newbury town meeting, 15 men from west-end suggested two propositions: (1) that the town would support two ministers with one preaching at the west-end or that (2) a new parish be established with a minister amongst them upon their own charge.


-summer of 1690-- The west-end residents called Mr Edward Tomson to minister to them in spiritual needs.  This elicited a vote by the town (Newbury) against Mr Tomson or any other minister until the church and town are agreed upon it.


-October 1690-- The west-end people petitioned the general court "to be established a people by themselves for the maintenance of the ministry amongst them".


-December 1690-- The town (Newbury) voted against this petition being granted and chose a committee to present a counter petition to the general court.


-1692-- The west-end people again made a petition and proposition about calling a minister.


-Dec 20 1692-- The town (Newbury) voted that they call another minister. On the 27th a committee of the town was formed to enquire after a suitable person.


-May 12 1693-- The town voted that Mr. John Clarke be called to assist Mr Richardson in the work of ministry at the west-end of town, to preach one year in order to further settlement and also to keep a grammar school.  This caused much dissension as most of the west-end people felt bound to adhere to Mr Tomson.


-May 31 1693-- Selectmen of Newbury, in their petition to general court, "long difference has existed between the people of Newbury and those in the west-end of town about calling a minister, that west-end had called Mr. Edward Tomson to preach to them without acquanting the minister, church or town with their proceedings in that affair".  The town voted against his (Mr Tomson) coming, or any other until church and town were agreed,yet they persisted in their design and brought him in - set up a lecture and preached without any allowance of minister ... upon request of several of the inhabitants of west-end called another minister, Mr John Clarke, who hath accepted of the call - yet there are several who refuse to accept him (Clarke) - pretending they are bound to said Tomson.


-June 15th 1693-- Another petition was forwarded to the general court from the west- end people, in which they request the governor and council "to pity and help them, to ease them of the heavy burden of travel on God's day." endeavor to have public worship of God established among us reason: bulk live 4 miles from old meeting and some 6 to 7 miles, number above 300, few have horses.


-July 15th 1693-- The town voted for the choice of a minister for the west-end of the town.  Mr John Clark was then chosen and not one vote against him.  Twenty-five persons of the west-end entered their dissent against calling Mr Clark "for reason that the newtown have a minister already".  Mr Clark declined the appointment.  Mr ChristopherToppan was invited to preach at the new town but he declined to settle but expressed his willingness to help in the work of the ministry for a year. The town voted to affirm Mr Toppan's decision.


-22 Oct 1694: [stopped note taking here in Coffin's book]


-21 Dec 1694-- the west end of Newbury was set off as a separate parish.


-1 Jan 1695-- Town meeting, division building the meeting house at Pipe Stave hill near Daniel Jaques house - inhabitants at west-end to chose a minister for themselves, only Mr.Tomson accepted ... meeting house to stand where it do until the major part of them see cause to remove it.


-28 February 28 1696--  A rate was made for payment of building and finishing the west-end meeting house and ministry house.  The expense was 22 pounds and 3 shillings in money, and 218 pounds, 18 shillings, and 2 pence in pay.  This was due from 64 persons.  John Hoag was listed with 23 others who objected to the continuance of the meeting house on the plains, and wished to have it removed to Pipe stave hill. [History of Newbury,p. 163-4].





  By 1704 some of the Hoag children had joined the Society of Friends or Quakers.  On the23rd of May 1704 Judge Sewall wrote in his diary "Went early to Salem, convers'd with Mr Noyes told him of the Quaker meeting at Sam Sawyers a week ago, profaneness of the young Hoags professing that heresy." [Samuel Sewall's Diary, 2:102, Mass Hist SocCollections, fifth series, vol vi].  Samuel Sawyer was a son of William Sawyer, one of the early settlers of Newbury, and "the young Hoags" were sons of John Hoag.





     Members of the Society of Friends visited Newbury at a very early date on their way to other towns in Maine and New Hampshire.  In October 1657 the general court in Newbury ordered that the penalty for entertaining Quakers should be 40 shillings.  Lydia Wardwell of Hampton NH was sentenced by the court at Salem to be severely whipped "for coming naked into Newbury meeting house" in 1663.  At the same court, John Emery (father of Ebenezer Emery Hoag) was indicted "for entertaining Quaker" at his house in Newbury.His offence consisted of granting food and lodging to two men and two women who were traveling further east.  John Emery was fined 4 pounds. [see chap 3, p. 124, 150].





   The Society of Friends held quarterly meetings in Hampton NH as early as 1697 and monthly meetings in 1699 [see History of Hampton, by Dow, 1:393].  In 1701 the Friends built a meeting-house in Hampton NH.  Members of the society resided in Hampton NH,and Salisbury, Amesbury, and Newbury Mass. [see History of Amesbury, by Merrill, p.150].





   In 1705, a meeting-house was erected in what was at the time Salisbury Mass “ new town” (now Amesbury Mass) for the better accommodation of the Quakers residing there and in the neighboring towns [History of Amesbury (Merrill) p 156].  The site of the Monthly Meetings was rotated between Hampton NH and Amesbury Mass.  At the Monthly Meeting held at Amesbury in 1714 the members were granted liberty to meet in Newbury"every 3rd first day ye week in every month".  After that date meetings of the society were frequently held in Newbury in private houses.  In 1743 a meeting-house was erected in Newburyport.  Stephen Sawyer, brother of Samuel Sawyer, conveyed the land on which the meeting house was built. [History of Newbury Mass, J.J. Currier, p.389-90, Quakers in Newbury]





   The west parish members were alarmed by the inroads of the Quakers as evident in the following two records from the west parish records.  On October 27th [1715?] a committee of the west-end precinct church was appointed "to discourse with certain members of the church who had withdrawn from their communion and see if something could not be said or done to draw them to our communion again, and if we connot draw them by fair means, then to determine what means to take with them" [History ofNewbury, p. 187].  On January 24th 1716, "A day of humiliation was kept by the church in the west precinct for several reasons: one was that God would prevent ye spread of errors in this place, especially the errors of the quakers" [church records Coffin's History]. 





  As mentioned above, some of the children of John Hoag were actively involved with the Quakers by 1704.  Records of the Hampton (NH) Monthly Meeting of Friends begin in the year 1701.  The earliest reference to anyone in the Hoag family in the Hampton (NH) Monthly Meeting minutes is the marriage certificate of Joseph Hoag (son of John &Ebenezer Hoag) to Sarah Goodwin on 5d 3m 1707. [note: check the marriage record for witnesses; parents of Sarah Goodwin Quakers?, check Goodwin/Fowler genealogy: Pretty sure that the names John Hoag and Ebenezer Hoag do not appear as witnesses to the marriage of the any Hoag children in the Hampton MM].  The marriages of Jonathan Hoag to Martha Goodwin in 1703 and Benjamin Hoag to Sarah Norris in 1702 were not with the Friends but probably the Parish Church, although both Jonathan & Benjamin Hoag later became members of the Friends.  It seems customary in the marriage certificates recorded in the Hampton Monthly Meeting minutes to list the parents of both the groom and bride.  In every marriage certificate in the Hampton Monthly Meeting minutes which involve children of John & Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag (covering the years 1707 to 1720) the place customary for the parents name is blank.  The probable reason was that John & Ebenezer(Emery) Hoag were not members of the Friends.





[Note: somewhere there is a statement that there is no record of John Hoag in the EssexCounty Deed Books, either as a grantor/grantee or as a witness to any deed.  His name is also not listed in any of the court or probate records in Essex County.  There is a probate record for John Hoag, 1703, son of John & Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag, do not have anything on this record]





   The most detailed account of the early Hoags is from Joseph Hoag in his book TheJournal of Joseph Hoag.  Joseph Hoag (1762-1824) was a great great grandson of the first John Hoag and resided in Charlotte Vermont.   He was a prominent Quaker preacher and traveled extensively in the United States and Canada.  How much of this story is fact or fiction can not be determined for sure but there are some points on either side.  Joseph Hoag's story has Ebenezer Emery as an only child, when she actually had three step-siblings and a younger brother.  Also he has John Hoag as a side judge in the court of assize but there is no evidence of this appointment in the Essex County Court records.  According to this account John Hoag dies prior to the death of Ebenezer Emery Hoag, whereas Coffin's cites John Hoag death in 1723 and Ebenezer Emery Hoag’s death in 1694.  It is questionable if either John Hoag or his wife, Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag, joined the Society of Friends.  However, this account does recount that John Hoag's son, Joseph, was the first to join the Quakers, followed by his brothers Jonathan and Benjamin, which seems to fit the Hampton Monthly Meeting Records.  What ever points are historically correct, this account of the early Hoag family does make a good story.





From The Journal of Joseph Hoag, (1860) by Joseph Hoag, Chapter I p. 1-4:


   The first family of Hoags which settled in America are supposed to have emigrated from Wales.  They settled, and resided for a time, about Hampton NH.  An estate falling to them in England, they all returned to possess it, except the youngest son John; but soon after landing, all died.  John, being bound apprentice to a leather dealer and glove maker, was compelled to stay behind, in consequence of the person with whom he was bound, refusing to give up his Indenture.  This young man was now left without friends in a strange land, under the direction of a master who subjected him to many hardships; he however remained faithful to his employer until he had completed his apprenticeship.


   John was a man of talent, being blessed with an even temper, a penetrating understanding, and a sound judgement.  After arriving to manhood, and commencing business for himself, he married an only child - an heiress of considerable estate, who was a woman of high spirits and irritable temper, though possessed of good natural parts.  Not withstanding the irritability of his wife, he governed his family with evenness and discretion, being a man of such candor and integrity as to establish him in the confidence of the people.  He was appointed to the office of first side Judge, which office he filled honorably in the Court Assize, until the time of the Salem witchcraft when, dissenting with unyielding firmness from that deadly delusion, under which so many innocent people were condemned to suffer capitally, he lost the confidence of the people and was displaced.  John and his wife were both zealous Presbyterians, and educated their children in the observance of that order.


   After their children had grown up, their son Joseph, while a young man, attended a Friend's meeting, which proved a silent one, but he was there convinced, soon joined theSociety, and became an acceptable Minister.  This occasioned great uneasiness and alarmin the family, none of them being able to confute him on points of religion, which circumstance caused his brother Jonathan to go to the Priest, desiring him to converse and pray with Joseph, that he might be reclaimed.  The Priest declined to do this, stating that it would do no good to try to talk him out of it - the best way would be to laugh and jeer at him; and if this did not succeed, to take him to frolics and make him dance; and if no change was then observed, to make him merry with strong drink, till those feelings wore off.  This counsel so displeased Jonathan, that he concluded to go to meeting with Joseph, and see what he found among the Quakers.  At this meeting Lydia Nafton so unveiled the Presbyterian creed as to convince him.  The distress of the family was now increased, and Benjamin, a younger brother, a man of quick apprehension and readiness of speech, exerted his ability, with an earnest desire for their preservation; but finding himself unequal to the task, and not able to persuade the Priest to assist him, he gave it up with sorrow; yet observing their steady conduct, he concluded that he would attend a meeting himself, to see what wrought so great a change in them.  A woman Friend there wasfavored in testimony to overturn all Benjamin's bulwarks and convince him so fully that he likewise became a Friend.


   This brought their religious parents into mourning, apparently without consolation, they believing that unavoidable  was the doom of all their sons; but after a time of severe trial, they comforted themselves with the reflection that they had done their duty, and that God would be glorified in those who are lost, as well as in those who are saved.  Parental care was exerted to keep their three daughters from conversing with their brothers on religious subjects; but being all young together, it was at times beyond the power of the parents to hinder this kind of conversation.  At length a Friend from England attended a meeting in the neighborhood, under whose ministry Mary, the favorite daughter, was convinced, and in a few years became herself an able minister, being sometimes large in her gift.  A younger sister soon after by convincement became a member, and the other gradually left the Presbyterians, and towards the latter part of her days, altogether attended the meetings of Friends, though she never became a member.  The parents continued to cleave to their form of worship for a number of years.  One time the priest condoled with them on account of their "hard fortune after raising so likely a family, to lose all their children, both body and soul".  To which the aged father replied: "I do not know about my children being lost; I brought them up as well as I knew how; I thought they behaved well as long as they kept to their education.  I have observed them a number years, since they turned Quakers;" giving the latter to understand that he thought their conduct much improved by the change, at which he exclaimed, "I see you are gone," and never visited him any more.  After this the father became a member, and died piously in the principles of Friends; saying a short time before his death, that he had obtained an assurance of happiness.  His wife was very much distressed during his life time after he had joined Friends, expressing her apprehension, that if he died in this delusion, he would go to destruction; at seasons weeping bitterly.  But after his decease, she became satisfied that he had gone to rest and peace; and she subsequently attended Friends meetings herself the remainder of her days.





------------





From The Boston Transcripts, #2591, 13 July 1933:


A family of Hoags came to Boston in 1650 & settled in NE Massachusetts or SE NH.  Their son, John Hoag, was bound out to a leather dresser & glove-maker.  A few years later a considerable property fell to them, but in order to get it they had to return to England. They could not get their son John released so he was left here.  This John Hoag is the progenitor of all the Hoags in this country.





------





Another account of the early Hoag family is from the Genealogical & personal memoirs relating to the families of Boston and Eastern Massachusetts by William R. Cutter.   Cutter follows the family line from John Hoag of Newbury Mass to Joseph Henry Hoag (1839-1907) of Lynn Massachusetts.  In this account of the first Hoag family of Newbury Mass, Cutter cites Joshua Coffin's History of Newbury as well as William Little's History o fWeare (NH) but there are parallels to the account given by Joseph Hoag, above.





From Genealogical & personal memoirs relating to the families of Boston and Eastern Massachusetts. 1908. Wm Richard Cutter. Vol III p. 1350-1352.


   One of the earlier chroniclers of Hoag family history presents an interesting tradition to the effect that sometime previous to the year 1700 the immigrant ancestor of the Hoags of New England came to this country with his son John and landed at New York; that he found the region there so much to his satisfaction that he left the boy in that city and returned to England to bring over his wife and other children, but never was heard of afterward.  The boy John grew up, however, and in due season married and had three sons, Joseph, Jonathan, and John.  Of these sons Joseph remained in New York, John settled in Connecticut, and Jonathan came over to Massachusetts and settled in West Newbury.  There is more truth in this old tradition than is usually found in such family reminiscences, as may be seen from what is here written as the result of researches by more recent investigators of Hoag family history.


  (I) John Hoag, was born in England or Wales in 1643, died in 1728, aged 85 years.  He came to this country with his father's family when he was child of about seven years.  Subsequently the father determined to return to England, and did so, taking with him all the members of his family except John, who then was bound out to serve an apprenticeship and was compelled to remain as the master was unwilling to release him; and thus it was that his John Hoag became ancestor of a family of descendants now well scattered throughout the states east of the Mississippi river, but the greater part of whom are found in the New England states and New York.  John Hoag settled in Newbury, Massachusetts, about the time of his marriage and afterward lived there, working at his trade of weaving and taking a somewhat active part in the affairs of the town.  He is said to have been "a man of good natural abilities," and to have served as first side judge until the magistrates began dealing so mercilessly with unfortunate persons charged with the heresy of witchcraft, when he so vigorously opposed the prosection of the victims that he was removed from office.  On April 21, 1669, he married Ebenezer Emery, daughter of John Emery of Newbury.  In writing of the Hoag family Mr. Little in his excellent historical narrative says "as the name (Ebenezer) is unusual for a woman anyone who wishes to verify it can refer to Coffin's 'History of Newbury,' and also to the records of Hampton (Monthly) Meeting of Friends."  Coffin says John Emery, carpenter, brother of Anthony Emery, came to Newbury in 1635 and died November 3, 1683, aged eighty-five years.  His children were: John, born in England about 1629; "Ebenezer, a daughter, born November 16, 1648;" Jonathan, born May 13, 1652.  After the children had grown up John and Ebenezer Hoag became members of the Society of Friends.  According to Coffin, the children of John and Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag were: 1. John, born February 20, 1670. 2. Jonathan, October 28 1671. 3. Joseph, January 10, 1677. 4. Hannah, January 13,1683. 5. Judith, April 20, 1687.  It may be mentioned, however, that Coffin's account of the children of John and Ebenezer (Emery) Hoag cannot be taken as reliably accurate, fo rin the more recent work, "History of Weare," New Hampshire,  Mr Little, the author, says that John Hoag died in 1725, and that by wife Ebenezer he had four sons, Jonathan, Joseph, Benjamin and one other, who doubtless was John.





-------------------------------





Another account of the first Hoag family is given by Albert Boyden in his book Here and There in the Family Tree.  Albert Boyden's grandfather was Moses Hoag (1804-1880) of Sandwich NH, a great great great grandson of John Hoag of Newbury Mass.  Mr. Boyden presents a theory on the traditional connection of the Hoags to Wales.





From Here and There in the Family Tree, (1949) by Albert Boyden, p. 61:


  Though it is clear that the Hoags in general were a well-known Scotch people, the persistent family tradition is that our branch of that name came to this country fromWales.  In support of this tradition, which may not be lightly disregarded, it is easy to imagine that a family of good Scotch Hoags somehow drifted into Wales, and thence made its way to America.  To this extent I am inclined to stick by the Welsh tradition.  It appears that our original American Hoag progenitor was John born over the water in 1643 ... It is told that John Hoag served as Judge in America until the magistrates began expending their fanatical zeal upon the witchcraft victims, but lost his office by reason of his opposition to those unhappy proceedings.  He at first a Presbyterian, became a Quaker, and a long line of his descendants were strict and strong in the Quaker fold.








Children of John Hoag & Ebenezer Emery, born Newbury Mass:


2-1  John Hoag, born 20 February 1670


2-2  Jonathan Hoag, born 28 October 1671


2-3  daughter Hoag, born 7 October 1674


2-4  Joseph Hoag, born 26 January 1676/7


2-5  daughter Hoag, born 4 January 1678


2-6  Benjamin Hoag, born 1680


2-7  Hannah Hoag, born 3 January 1683


2-    Samuel Hoag, born 1684


2-8  Judith Hoag, born  20 April 1687


2-9  Mary Hoag, born April 1689





[Newbury Mass Vital Records. 1911. 1:228][Currier. Newbury, Newburyport, W Newbury.1845. p. 305] [Emery, Sarah Anna. 1879. Reminiscences of a Newburyport Nonagenarian.p. 137-8][Hodges, jr, Almon D. 1896. Genealogical record of the Hodges family of NewEngland. p18, 20-1][Savage, James. 1860. General Dictionary of the first settlers of NewEngland.][Weeks, Dr. Frank Edgar. 1938. The Genealogy of Francis Weekes, of Providence, R.I., Gravesend, Hempstead and Oyster Bay, L.I.; and collateral lines. - list“Samuel Hoag, born 1684, m. Abigail Stearns” but no record of this in Newbury Mass VitalRecords][The Boston Transcripts, #2591, 13 July 1933][Robert Hoag Collection. cites:WEARE, 1888]


